1987

George M. Baker and Della A. Baker v. Western
Surety Company, and Craig A. Papa-Dakis,
individually and d/b/a "Auto-mart," and Auto Mart
: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has invested this Court with jurisdiction of this matter by virtue of its Order dated July 8, 1978 (reproduced *infra* at A-5) pursuant to its "pourover" authority.

NATURE OF PROCEEDING

This is an appeal from an Order of the District Court modifying the District Court's prior judgment in favor of Plaintiffs-Appellants George M. Baker and his mother, Della A. Baker (hereinafter "the Bakers"). The case in

the District Court was a civil action by the Bakers against a defaulting and defunct auto dealer (Defendant Craig A. Papa-Dakis) and the surety on his motor vehicle dealer's bond, Defendant-Respondent Western Surety Company.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was Respondent Western Surety's motion (dated February 6, 1987) to modify the December, 1986, judgment of the District Court timely?
2. Did the District Court have jurisdiction to modify its December, 1986, judgment while that judgment was on appeal by Western Surety to the Utah Supreme Court?
3. In view of the fact that Respondent Western Surety approved the December, 1986, judgment as to form, was it proper for the District Court to grant Western Surety's later motion to modify that judgment on the basis of mistake?
4. Was the District Court's December, 1986, judgment void?
5. Was it proper for the District Court to limit Appellants' execution on their December, 1986, judgment against Western Surety "to the bond?"
6. Is Western Surety's cross-appeal barred by the Utah Supreme Court's dismissal of its prior appeal?
7. Was Western Surety's cross-appeal timely filed?

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

Rule 60(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (reproduced *infra* at A-3) provides that "clerical mistakes" in a final judgment may be corrected after an appeal is docketed in the appellate court only "with leave of the appellate court."

Rule 59(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (reproduced *infra* at A-2) requires that motions pursuant to Rule 59 must be filed within ten (10) days following the entry of the judgment.

Rule 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure (reproduced *infra* at A-4) requires that an appeal be filed within thirty days from the entry of the challenged order.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a fundamentally simple action involving a defaulting motor vehicle dealer and his surety, which has been unconscionably complicated and protracted by the surety's persistent procedural efforts to avoid paying the judgment entered against it even though it has never challenged the ultimate merit of that judgment. Western Surety issued a motor vehicle dealer's bond to Defendant Craig Papa-Dakis. (Answer, Para. 6, R. at 27.) This bond¹ allowed Defendant Papa-Dakis to operate as a motor vehicle dealer within the state of Utah.

The Bakers paid approximately \$15,000.00 in cash for a vehicle for Mrs. Baker. (R. at 3.) Mrs. Baker, who is elderly, could not operate the

¹The bond is reproduced in the Addendum, *infra* at A-14.

parking brake of the vehicle and Defendant Papa-Dakis agreed to replace the vehicle with another comparable vehicle of her choosing. (R. at 62.) The Bakers returned the first vehicle and were promised a replacement. The replacement vehicle was not forthcoming and, under pressure from the Bakers, Defendant Papa-Dakis' employees provided a temporary loaner. Ultimately, the Bakers were compelled by the rightful owners of the loaner to return that vehicle and have never been provided with either the title to the original vehicle or a refund of the purchase price. (R. at 63.) Defendant Papa-Dakis is now out of business and facing numerous criminal charges.

Plaintiffs made claim upon Western Surety Company under its motor vehicle dealer's bond. Western Surety ignored that claim. Plaintiffs filed suit against Mr. Papa-Dakis and Western Surety, as his surety. (R. at 2.) On November 5, 1986, the District Court entered judgment against Defendant Papa-Dakis. (R. at 37-38, reproduced *infra* at A-6.)

Western Surety still refused to pay the Bakers' claim under its bond. On December 4, 1986, the Bakers filed their Motion for Summary Judgment against Western Surety. (R. at 43.) Western Surety responded by filing an interpleader action in the District Court² and filing a motion in the Bakers' action to stay that action. (R. at 68.) Both motions were heard by Judge Wilkinson on December 19, 1986. (R. at 86.) Judge Wilkinson denied Western Surety's motion to stay proceedings and granted the Bakers' Motion for Summary Judgment. (Transcript of 12/19/86 Hearing, R. at 312.) Upon

²The interpleader action was assigned to the Honorable Richard Moffat, whereas the Bakers' action was assigned to the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson.

the announcement by Judge Wilkinson of his grant of the Bakers' Motion for Summary Judgment, Western Surety's Counsel orally moved to stay execution upon that judgment. (Transcript of 12/19/86 Hearing, R. at 325.) Judge Wilkinson denied that motion also. (*Id.*)

Ten days later, on December 29, 1986, Western Surety paid to the Clerk of the District Court the sum of \$20,000.00, the amount that it claims³ represents the total amount of its indebtedness under its bond. (See, Clerk's receipt, R. at 182, reproduced *infra* at A-15.)

Under pressure from the Utah State Insurance Commissioner (*see* letter dated 1/27/87, reproduced *infra* at A-16-17), Western Surety filed with the Utah Supreme Court a notice of its appeal of the District Court's denial of its motion to stay the Bakers' action. (*See*, Notice of Appeal, R. at 153.) Western Surety made clear that it did not appeal the Summary Judgment for only the denial of a stay. (*Id.*)

Judge Wilkinson having twice denied Western Surety's motion for a stay and Western Surety having appealed that denial to the Utah Supreme Court, Western Surety then obtained *ex parte* from the Honorable David B. Dee (acting for the Honorable Richard H. Moffat) a Temporary Restraining Order enjoining the Bakers from executing upon the judgment that Judge Wilkinson had granted them.⁴ At a hearing held on February 5, 1987, Judge

³There are numerous claimants with respect to the conduct of Defendant Papa-Dakis. Western Surety's claim that its liability is limited to \$20,000.00 for all claims combined is debatable under the Utah Supreme Court's decision in *Dennis Dillion Oldsmobile, Inc., v. Zdunich*, 668 P.2d 557 (Utah 1983).

⁴That TRO was improperly obtained in violation of a number of provisions, including: Section 78-7-19 of the Utah Code (prohibiting repeated applications for the same order); Rule 15.4 of the Rules of Practice; Rule

Moffat vacated the TRO as having been "wrongfully issued" and denied Western Surety's concurrent motion for a preliminary injunction. (Transcript of 2/5/87 Hearing at 39, reproduced *infra* at A-24.) Following the hearing before Judge Moffat, counsel for Western Surety and the Bakers agreed to the amount and sufficiency of a supersedeas bond to be posted by Western Surety pending the resolution of its appeal to the Utah Supreme Court. Based upon the assurances of counsel for Western Surety that a corporate surety bond was being obtained and would be posted, counsel for the Bakers agreed that no further efforts at execution would be attempted even before the bond was actually posted. (See, Stipulation, R. at 269-70, reproduced *infra* at A-25.)

Thereafter, Western Surety filed with Judge Wilkinson in the Bakers' action its "Motion for Relief from Judgment or, in the Alternative, to Limit Execution to the Interpleaded Funds." (R. at 161-165, reproduced *infra* at A-27.) That motion sought relief under Rule 60(a) and alleged that the December, 1986, judgment was "in error, as the [Bakers'] judgment should be limited to a judgment against the bond." (R. at 162-163 and *infra* at A-28 through A-29.) The motion also sought relief under Rule 60(b)(1), alleging that the December, 1986, judgment did not "accurately reflect the result of the summary judgment entered." (R. at 163 and *infra* at A-29.) Finally, the motion sought an order limiting execution "to the bond funds" (R. at 164 and *infra* at A-30.)

Western Surety's appeal of Judge Wilkinson's December, 1986,

65A(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (in that it did not define the injury, did not state why the injury was irreparable, and did not state why it had been granted without notice); and Rule 65A(c) (in that no security was posted).

judgment was docketed with the Utah Supreme Court on February 11, 1987. Thereafter, Western Surety's motion was argued to Judge Wilkinson on February 13, 1987. Judge Wilkinson noted that he had "serious -- very serious -- question" as to whether he had jurisdiction in view of the fact that Western Surety had appealed his original denial of a stay to the Utah Supreme Court (Transcript of 2/13/87 Hearing, R. at 280 and 281, reproduced *infra* at A-31 and A-32) but, nevertheless, granted the motion, noting that his December, 1986, judgment should "only go against the bond." (*Id.* at 282.) Judge Wilkinson also stated that he felt that the Bakers were "entitled to judgment against the amount of the bond of Western Surety or the bond itself." (*Id.* at 283-84.) He went on to note that he thought "the judgment itself is void" (*Id.* at 284) and that he was granting the relief pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1) and 60(b)(5). (*Id.*)

On March 26, 1987, the Utah Supreme Court, upon the stipulation of the parties and upon the motion of Western Surety, dismissed in its entirety Western Surety's appeal from Judge Wilkinson's December, 1986, judgment. (*See*, Order, reproduced *infra* at A-20.) On April 7, 1987, the District Court entered its formal written Order on Western Surety's motion to limit execution, the sole effect of which was to grant Western Surety's motion to amend the original December 31, 1986, Judgment so as to limit Western Surety's liability "to the bond." (R. at 294-96, reproduced *infra* at A-11.)

The Bakers appealed to the Utah Supreme Court solely from the granting of Western Surety's motion to modify the original judgment so as to limit execution "to the bond." (*See*, Notice of Appeal, R. at 300-01,

reproduced *infra* at A-22.) Western Surety now attempts to cross-appeal the District Court's denial (more than four months earlier in December, 1986) of its motion for a stay. (R. at 304-05.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The District Court erred in attempting to amend in April of 1987 the judgment that it had entered in favor of the Bakers against Western Surety in December of 1986. Procedurally, the District Court lacked jurisdiction to order amendment of its December judgment. Jurisdiction must be found in Rule 60(a), 60(b), or 59. The District Court lacked jurisdiction under Rule 60(a) because Western Surety's appeal of the December, 1986, judgment had been docketed with the Utah Supreme Court but no leave had been obtained from the Utah Supreme Court for the modification of the judgment sought by Western Surety. The trial court attempted to justify the relief under Rule 60(b)(5) on the basis that the judgment was "void." Even if erroneous, however, the judgment would be merely voidable, not void. Moreover, grounds do not exist on the basis of "mistake" under Rule 60(b)(1). Finally, the relief that the motion actually sought was an amendment of the judgment pursuant to Rule 59; however, any motion under that rule had to be filed within ten days and the motion was, therefore, untimely.

Substantively, there is no merit to Western Surety's contention that its liability to the Bakers should be limited "to its bond." A bond is merely a civil contract which, in this case, Western Surety breached. There exists no justification to limit a defaulting party's liability to the very contract that the party has breached.

Western Surety's cross-appeal must be dismissed because it is barred. Western Surety's cross-appeal relates only to the denial in December of 1986 of its motion to stay the proceedings. The order implementing that denial was entered December 31, 1986, together with the original Judgment. The subsequent amendment, in April of 1986, of the Judgment entered concurrently with the denial of Western Surety's motion for a stay does not extend the appeal time with respect to that order. Accordingly, Western Surety's cross-appeal is untimely even if not barred by the dismissal of its prior appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE DISTRICT COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO AMEND THE JUDGMENT.

Any action by the trial court to amend its December, 1986, judgment had to fall within the purview of one of three possible rules of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure: Rule 59, Rule 60(a), or Rule 60(b). As will be seen, none of those rules was applicable and the trial court lacked jurisdiction.

A. The Trial Court Lacked Jurisdiction Under Rule 60(a).

Western Surety claims that the trial court was acting under Rule 60(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. That rule⁵ relates only to

⁵The rule is set forth in full in the Addendum, *infra* at A-3

"clerical mistakes in judgments . . . arising from oversight or omission . . . ," and provides that:

During the pendency of an appeal, such mistakes may be so corrected *before the appeal is docketed* in the appellate court, and thereafter while the appeal is pending may be so corrected with leave of the appellate court.

Rule 60(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In this case, Western Surety's appeal of Judge Wilkinson's December, 1986, judgment was docketed on February 11, 1987. Leave was never sought of, and leave was never granted by, the Utah Supreme Court for any amendment or correction of the record or the judgment by the District Court. Accordingly, when the motion of Western Surety was heard by Judge Wilkinson on February 13, 1987, Judge Wilkinson, as he recognized⁶, lacked jurisdiction of the case. The language of Rule 60(a) is clear. If the correction of clerical errors is to be conducted after the filing of an appeal, it must be conducted either before the appeal is docketed or with leave of the appellate court. In this case, neither of the conditions was met and the District Court lacked jurisdiction to amend its December, 1986, judgment.

Moreover, counsel for Western Surety reviewed the December, 1986, judgment prior to its entry and signed that judgment as "approved as to form" before it was submitted to Judge Wilkinson for entry. (*See*, Judgment, R. at 100-02, reproduced *infra* at A-8.) Having previously approved of the form of the judgment, it was totally inappropriate for Western Surety to later complain about the form of that judgment and allege clerical errors in it.

⁶*See* Transcript of 2/13/87 Hearing, R. at 280-81, reproduced *infra* at A-31 and A-32.

Having approved of the form of the judgment, Western Surety was precluded from later claiming "clerical errors."

Both because the trial court lacked jurisdiction under the express language of Rule 60(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and because its counsel had approved of the form of the judgment later claimed to contain clerical errors, the District Court erred in attempting to amend the December, 1986, judgment.

B. No Grounds Existed for Relief Under Rule 60(b).

At the hearing at which he granted Western Surety's motion to amend the December, 1986, judgment, Judge Wilkinson stated that he felt the original judgment was void. (*See*, R. at 284, reproduced *infra* at A-35.) This statement manifests a clear misunderstanding of relevant law by the trial judge. A judgment which is erroneous may, under some circumstances, be voidable, but it is not void. A judgment is void only if it was entered by a court not having jurisdiction of the subject matter or in an action in which the persons against whom the judgment is signed have not been served or otherwise brought within the court's *in personam* jurisdiction. In this case, it is beyond any argument that Western Surety was properly served and that the District Courts of this state have jurisdiction in matters of this nature. There is simply no merit of any nature whatsoever to Judge Wilkinson's belief that the December 31, 1986, judgment resulting from the December 19, 1986, hearing, was "void."

Western Surety also attempts to bring Judge Wilkinson's order within the purview of Subsection 1 of Rule 60(b), which relates to "mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect" as grounds for relief. This

section also is not applicable to the present circumstances. First, there was no evidence offered to support any relief under this ground. There were no affidavits filed and there were no witnesses called. Moreover, Western Surety had every opportunity to detect and correct any "mistake" in the December, 1986, judgment; yet, it approved that judgment as to form after several changes were made at its request. Having had an opportunity to inspect and redraft the judgment and having approved the judgment as to form, Western Surety was precluded from later claiming that the judgment contained some "mistake." With respect to "inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect," no evidence was offered and no argument was made to Judge Wilkinson. Those concepts are not applicable to the circumstances of this case.

C. Western Surety's Motion Actually Sought an Amendment of the December, 1986, Judgment and Was Untimely Under Rule 59.

The thrust of Western Surety's complaint was with the *substance* of the December, 1986, judgment, rather than its *form*. The motion that Western Surety really argued to the District Court was a Rule 59 motion to alter or amend the December judgment.

In essence, Western Surety's argument was that since the Bakers' claim was "on the bond," their judgment should have been "limited to the bond." Assuming, *arguendo*, the legal validity of this argument, it is immediately apparent that what is being contended is that an error had occurred in the substance of the judgment in that the relief granted was erroneous and more generous than should have been allowed. Such a motion falls under Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 59(e), however, strictly limits the filing of motions under Rule 59 to the ten-day period following the entry of the judgment. The judgment that Western Surety sought to have amended was entered on December 31, 1986. Accordingly, its motion on February 6, 1987, was clearly untimely. The District Court erred in failing to deny an untimely Rule 59 motion.

POINT II. THERE WAS NO SUBSTANTIVE MERIT TO THE CONTENTION THAT PLAINTIFFS' JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN LIMITED TO DEFENDANT'S BOND.

A fundamental point must be made at the outset: A bond is nothing but a civil contract, an agreement by one party to make payment if a stated condition occurs or fails to occur. In this case, Western Surety entered into a contract by which it agreed to pay up to a stated amount in the event that the auto dealer failed to comply with Utah law.⁷ Western Surety received substantial financial compensation for making that promise. Accordingly, Western Surety was obligated to honor the Bakers' claim when it became apparent that co-Defendant Papa-Dakis had defaulted in his obligations to them. Western Surety failed to pay the Bakers, ignoring their

⁷Actually, the bond contains two separate and distinct promises by Western Surety. First, Western Surety expressly agreed to "indemnify persons . . . for loss suffered . . . through the violation of any of the provisions of [Utah's] Motor Vehicle Business Act" Second, Western Surety expressly agreed that it would "pay judgments and costs adjudged against [its] principal . . . on account of fraud or fraudulent representations or for any violation or violations of said laws" It additionally agreed that it would "also pay reasonable attorney's fees in cases successfully prosecuted to judgment." The bond is reproduced in the Addendum, *infra* at A-14.

claim. Once judgment was entered against co-Defendant Papa-Dakis on November 5, 1986 (R. at 37-38, reproduced *infra* at A-6), Western Surety was expressly obligated under the provisions of its bond to pay that judgment. Western Surety still refused to pay. Western Surety was, therefore, in breach of its contract.

On December 4, 1986, the Bakers filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 43.) On December 19, 1986, Judge Wilkinson determined that there existed no genuine dispute as to any fact material to the determination of the motion for summary judgment and granted the Bakers Summary Judgment based upon those undisputed facts (R. at 325). Nothing contained in the motion, nothing contained in Western Surety's response, and nothing contained in the arguments of counsel before Judge Wilkinson can be said to stand for the proposition that the motion was anything but a routine motion for summary judgment based upon a contractual obligation that had clearly been breached by Western Surety. The court agreed and granted Summary Judgment.

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