1987

George M. Baker and Della A. Baker v. Western Surety and Craig A. Papa-Dakis : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

"to idemnify any and all persons, firms and corporations for any loss suffered by reason of violation of the conditions hereafter contained, in the penal sum of Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00). . . for the payment of which, well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves. . . ." [Emphasis original.]

Id. at 559.

After examining this language and the statute itself, the court held:

By the literal language of the bonds, the sureties rendered themselves liable up to a maximum of \$20,000.00 for any loss suffered by any and all persons. [Emphasis original.]

Id. at 561. The court further held that where the terms of the bond are more comprehensive than required by statute, the surety is bound by the language of the bond.

The bond issued by Western Surety in this case is entirely different from the bonds in Dillon Oldsmobile. The bond in the instant matter is limited to a total aggregate annual liability of \$20,000.00. This limitation is in accordance with Section 41-3-16(1) and is in accordance with the statutory requirement recognized by Dillon Oldsmobile⁶. Id. at 561. It is

⁶ It must also be noted that the Utah Legislature amended §41-3-16(1) and §41-3-18 in 1983. The amendments to these two sections made it clear that "the total aggregate annual liability on the bond to all persons making claims may not exceed \$20,000.00." The amendments also enacted specific limitation periods, requiring claims to be filed with the administrator within one year after the cause of action arises.

a well established rule of law that a surety may only be held for the amount stipulated in the bond. See Western Surety Co. v. Childers, 372 P.2d 214, 215 (Okla. 1962). The judgment in this case was, therefore, properly limited to the bond funds held in interpleader as Western Surety's only obligation arises by reason of the bond and the bond funds were under the jurisdiction of interpleader.

The Bakers contend that the bond is nothing more than a contract and that Western Surety breached its obligation on the contract by failing to pay the Bakers once judgment had been entered against the dealer and once summary judgment was entered against Western Surety on December 31, 1986. This contention is apparently based on a misunderstanding of the bond itself, as well as a misunderstanding of the consequence of the filing of the interpleader and the basis of Judge Wilkinson's order granting relief from judgment.

First of all, the Bakers misunderstand the obligation of Western Surety on the bond. The judgment entered against the dealer was a default judgment. The Bakers plainly misread the bond in asserting that Western Surety was obligated to pay all judgments rendered against the dealer. With respect to judgments against the dealer, the bond provides that if the principal [the dealer] indemnifies persons for loss suffered by reason of fraud, violations of the motor vehicle business act and certain other laws respecting commerce in motor vehicles, and pays judgments

adjudged against him on account of fraud or violation of the designated laws respecting motor vehicles, then the surety's obligation is null and void. (See bond, R. at 10, reproduced at A-1.)

By the plain wording of the bond, Western Surety is only obligated to indemnify persons for loss suffered by reason of fraud and violation of the Motor Vehicle Code and other laws respecting commerce in motor vehicles, and is only so obligated as a surety. That is, Western Surety's obligation does not arise unless the dealer fails to indemnify persons for the identified losses. Western Surety is certainly not obligated on its bond for all judgments entered against the dealer. Ordinary money judgments against the dealer, which do not involve fraud or a violation of the Motor Vehicle Code do not raise an obligation under the bond. The bond is statutorily required for the specific reasons detailed in Utah Code Ann. §41-3-16(1).

The default judgment entered against the dealer did not establish fraud or a violation of the motor vehicle code. It is a generally accepted rule that a default judgment against one defendant is not binding on another defendant and does not establish facts against the answering defendant. See, Clugston v. Moore, 655 P.2d 29, 31 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1982).

The Bakers' contention that Western Surety agreed to pay attorney's fees in cases successfully prosecuted to judgment furthers their misreading of the bond. The bond provides that

"said bounden principal" shall pay reasonable attorney's fees in cases successfully prosecuted to judgment.

The second error with the Bakers' contention that Western Surety has breached its obligation on the bond deals with a misunderstanding of interpleader. The interpleader action was commenced on December 16, 1986, before the hearing on the Bakers' motion for summary judgment and fifteen days prior to the entry of the order granting the Bakers summary judgment. As indicated in the argument, supra, interpleader jurisdiction was established by the filing of the complaint. At that time, the bond became the res of interpleader and was under the jurisdiction of the interpleader court. Thus, the entire obligation of Western Surety on its bond became the subject of interpleader. This is dictated by the bond itself and by the statute, Utah Code Ann. §41-3-16.

When the circumstances following entry of the summary judgment were related to Judge Wilkinson by the motion for relief from judgment, he recognized his previous error and the existence of jurisdiction in the interpleader court. Upon hearing the motion, Judge Wilkinson stated that if he had understood that the interpleader action was filed at the time of hearing the Bakers' motion for summary judgment and Western Surety's motion to stay proceedings, "in all probability [he] would have granted a stay there." (Transcript of 2/13/87 hearing, p. 21, R. at 329, reproduced at A-50.) Judge Wilkinson, therefore, corrected his

previous error and granted relief from the prior judgment. He re-entered judgment in favor of the Bakers, but directed that satisfaction of that judgment was limited to the bond funds under the jurisdiction of the interpleader court. Legal basis for such a limitation had been shown in the strikingly similar Piver case and the Santa Monica case. Execution is limited to the bond funds because they became the jurisdiction of the interpleader court prior to the entry of judgment and because those funds are the extent of Western Surety's liability.

The requirement that the Bakers interplead to satisfy their judgment is consistent with Rule 22 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and due process of law. It is by the very authority cited by Western Surety that the Bakers are even entitled to have summary judgment entered in their favor outside of interpleader. See Piver, at 532. Indeed, with the filing of interpleader, Judge Wilkinson could have declined to enter judgment and required the Bakers to interplead to prove their claim in addition to satisfying it. It is only by the procedure outlined in Piver that a bond claimant is able to obtain a judgment outside of interpleader once it is commenced.

The cases cited by the Bakers concerning indefinite stays of execution are not applicable. There is no indefinite stay of execution in this case. Taylor National, Inc. v. Jensen Brothers Construction, 641 P.2d 150 (Utah 1982), held that the trial court in that case had erred by permanently staying

execution of the judgment entered. Id. at 154. The court further stated that a party receiving a judgment is entitled to have that judgment enforced by the granting court. Id. The order and judgment entered by Judge Wilkinson on April 7, 1987 is not in conflict with Taylor National. Execution has not been permanently stayed in this action. In fact, execution has not been stayed at all. Execution is merely directed to the interpleaded funds in accordance with Rule 22 interpleader. Ketchum Coal Co. v. Christensen, 48 Utah 214, 159 P. 541 (1916), cited by the Bakers, is likewise inapposite.

CROSS-APPEAL
POINT I

THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS WAS
ERROR IN LIGHT OF THE PENDING INTERPLEADER
ACTION AND SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD NOT HAVE
BEEN GRANTED OUTSIDE OF INTERPLEADER.

Western Surety's cross-appeal concerns only the denial of Western Surety's motion to stay proceedings and is in the alternative only, contingent upon this court's disposition of the Bakers' appeal. Western Surety believes that Judge Wilkinson properly granted Rule 60(b) relief in the furtherance of justice and that the new order and judgment entered on April 7, 1987 is consistent with the equity of interpleader and case law regarding interpleader of bond funds. Should this court affirm Judge Wilkinson's order granting relief pursuant to Rule 60(b), Western Surety does not wish to disturb the order and judgment. If this court, however, reverses the trial court's order, Western Surety

contends that its motion to stay proceedings should have been granted in the first instance and, therefore, cross-appeals from that part of the order denying its motion to stay proceedings.

As established in the argument, supra, interpleader jurisdiction was established on December 16, 1986. At that time, the bond funds were under the jurisdiction of the interpleader court. Neither Western Surety nor any bond claimant could dispose of or execute upon the funds absent an order from the interpleader court. These funds were deposited into the registry of the court on December 29, 1986, prior to the entry of summary judgment in favor of the Bakers. Western Surety was entitled pursuant to Rule 22 to require all bond claimants to interplead their claims. The express purpose of Rule 22 is to avoid multiple liability. Hearing was held on Western Surety's motion to stay proceedings and the Bakers' motion for summary judgment on December 19, 1986. The trial court was advised by affidavit of counsel for Western Surety that the interpleader had been commenced. For some reason, Judge Wilkinson failed to recognize this fact initially and he denied the motion to stay proceedings and granted the motion for summary judgment. He later acknowledged that had he fully understood that interpleader had been commenced he, in all probability, would have granted a stay. (See footnote 1.)

The denial of the motion to stay proceedings was clear error. The granting of summary judgment undercut the purpose of

the interpleader by exposing Western Surety to multiple liability. The Bakers were included in the interpleader action and should have been required to interplead their claim. The denial of the motion to stay proceedings was also error in that the court lacked the jurisdiction over Western Surety necessary to render the judgment entered on December 31, 1986. 7 Moore's Federal Practice ¶60.25[2], p.60-225. The bond funds, which represented the extent of Western Surety's liability, were no longer at the disposal of Western Surety. The court had jurisdiction over those funds in interpleader. The trial court below lacked quasi in rem jurisdiction over Western Surety and should have granted a stay of proceedings and required the Bakers to interplead to prove their claim.

POINT II

WESTERN SURETY'S CROSS-APPEAL WAS TIMELY AND PROPER UNDER THE APPLICABLE RULES.

The Bakers contend that Western Surety's cross-appeal was untimely and is barred by the prior dismissal of the appeal from the December 31, 1986 order. These contentions are without merit, as they fail to consider the nature of the orders entered by the court below.

Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that an appeal may be taken from all "final orders and judgments." The advisory committee note to Rule 3(a) indicates that the rule retains the "final judgment rule" of the prior

appellate rule in Rule 72(a). On January 29, 1987, Western Surety appealed from part of the order and judgment entered on December 31, 1986, pursuant to Rule 3(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This was necessary for the perfection of Western Surety's right to appeal, despite a pending motion in the interpleader court seeking to require the Bakers to interplead to satisfy their judgment. As entered, the order and judgment of December 31, 1986 ended the litigation and left no claim remaining for resolution. It was therefore a final order and judgment.

Although its right to appeal was perfected by the filing of the notice of appeal on January 29, 1987, Western Surety attempted to have the matter resolved below so that the delay of an appeal would be unnecessary. Judge Wilkinson resolved the matter by granting relief from judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The order granting relief from judgment and the new judgment was entered on April 7, 1987. At that point, the December 31, 1986 order and judgment ceased to be a viable, final and appealable order. Relief from that judgment had been granted and a new order and judgment was entered. Accordingly, no appeal could lie from the order entered on December 31, 1986.

Because appellate review would no longer be necessary and because the issues involved with Western Surety's appeal of the December 31, 1986 order were mooted, Western Surety

voluntarily dismissed its appeal from that order by filing a stipulation for dismissal pursuant to Rule 37(b) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure as dictated by Rule 37(a) when all issues in the appeal are mooted. (Stipulation for dismissal, reproduced at A-54.) By order of the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, the appeal from the December 31, 1986 order was dismissed pursuant to Rule 37(b). (Order of dismissal, reproduced at A-57.)

The order granting relief from judgment and the new judgment was entered by the court below on April 7, 1987. The December 31, 1986 order and judgment was, therefore, no longer a viable order and judgment. Furthermore, Western Surety's appeal from that order had become moot. Contrary to the Bakers contentions, Western Surety's cross-appeal of the denial of its motion to stay proceedings runs from the date of the final order entered on April 7, 1987, rather than from the prior order. This is explained by the authors of a well accepted work on Federal Practice and Procedure, as follows:

An application for relief from a judgment under Rule 60(b) also does not extend the time for taking an appeal. Even if the court hears and denies the motion before the appeal time would have run, the appeal must be taken within the prior period measured from the date of the judgment, not from the denial of the motion. If, however, the court grants the motion and enters a new judgment, the time for appeal will date from the entry of that judgment. [Emphasis added.]

11 C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure, §2871 (1973).

The contention that the appeal is untimely, and that such would be obvious if the court had entered two separate orders on separate pieces of paper on December 31, 1986, is without merit. The order denying Western Surety's motion to stay proceedings, standing alone, was not a final order. Said order did not end the litigation. See Crosland v. Peck, 738 P.2d 631 (Utah 1987). The order denying the motion to stay is only appealable if, and when, a final order or judgment has been entered. The final order and judgment was entered on April 7, 1987. The order and judgment of December 31, 1986 is no longer viable and is no longer appealable as it is not a final order and judgment in this case. The Bakers filed their notice of appeal from the April 7, 1987 order on April 30, 1987. Western Surety filed its cross-appeal from the part of the order denying its motion to stay proceedings on May 12, 1987, twelve days after the Bakers' notice of appeal. Rule 4(d) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that:

If a timely notice of appeal is filed by a party, any other party may file a notice of appeal within 14 days after the date on which the first notice of appeal was filed or within the time otherwise prescribed by paragraph (a) of this rule, whichever period last expires.

The notice of cross-appeal was timely filed within the above rule.

The fallacy of the Bakers' contention that Western Surety's cross-appeal is barred by its prior dismissal of the

appeal from the earlier order, and that its cross-appeal from the order denying its motion to stay proceedings runs from December 31, 1986, is obvious if one merely considers the ramifications of their contentions. If the Bakers' argument is correct, and it is assumed, arguendo, that the December 31, 1986 order remained a viable, final and appealable order, Western Surety should have allowed its appeal to remain pending despite the fact that it was mooted. The Bakers' argument would require a moot appeal to remain pending until it is determined whether or not the new order and judgment (which is the final and appealable order) will be appealed from. The problems inherent in such a procedure are obvious and the continuation of an appeal that is moot is completely inconsistent with the rules governing appellate procedure. There cannot be two separate dates from which an appeal runs. There is only one final and appealable order and all appeals must run from that date. The final order in this case was entered on April 7, 1987.

CONCLUSION

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